IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE MAY 22 1995 CLERK. ₿y_ Chief Deputy

MORRIS H. McGHEE, II

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 85,695

VOLUSIA COUNTY, a policital subdivision of the State of Florida, et. al.,

Respondents.

DISCRETIONARY PROCEEDINGS TO REVIEW A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FIFTH DISTRICT

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

Elizabeth H. Faiella, Esquire Fla. Bar No. 224308 ELIZABETH H. FAIELLA, P.A. 200 West Welbourne Avenue Suite 3 Winter Park, Florida 32789 (407) 647-6111

Attorney for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF CASE

On April 7, 1995 the Fifth District issued its Order on Motion for Rehearing *En Banc*, vacating the original panel decision and substituting a new opinion. [A. 1-16] This opinion affirmed a final summary judgment rendered in favor of Volusia County in this action for personal injury against the County and its employee, Deputy Hernlen, and against the Plaintiff, Morris H. McGhee II. [A. 1-5]

On May 8, 1995 the Plaintiff McGhee filed with the Fifth District Court of Appeal his Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction based upon express and direct decisional conflict and these proceedings ensued.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

While on duty as a Volusia County Deputy Sheriff, George Hernlen arrested Morris McGhee. Deputy Hernlen transported Mr. McGhee to the Sheriff's office in Deland, Florida. During the booking process, Mr. McGhee complained that when Sheriff's deputies came to his Dad's saw shop, they visited and acted friendly, and then when he was pulled over, he was treated like "a piece of dirt on the road." So, Mr. McGhee told Deputy Hernlen that he was no longer welcome at the saw shop. [A. 2]

Deputy Hernlen asked whether Mr. McGhee was threatening him. The Deputy stood up, grabbed Mr. McGhee, "went crazy", and started kicking Mr. McGhee. Mr. McGhee began crying, begging the Deputy to quit. The Deputy stated "What are you? A big pussy? That's all you are!" And Deputy Hernlen continued to kick Mr. McGhee. [A. 2]

The Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed the entry of summary judgment for the County finding that as a matter of law, the act of Deputy Hernlen in striking Mr. McGhee was not motivated in some way by a purpose to serve his employer. [A. 1-5]

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fifth District Court of Appeal has found that a deputy sheriff who strikes a person in custody during the booking process is outside his scope of employment as a matter of law. This decision expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of this Court as to general summary judgment principles and with decisions of the First and Second District Courts of Appeal dealing with the scope of employment issue.

Mr. McGhee made personal comments to Deputy Hernlen during the booking process which Hernlen interpreted as a threat. [A. 2] The Fifth District Court of Appeal incorrectly found that the only reasonable inference which could be drawn was that Deputy Hernlen was acting totally for his own purposes. Why isn't it reasonable to find that the Deputy perceived the comments as a threat or challenge to his authority as a police officer, and that, his actions were taken, at least in part, to serve his employer?

This decision undermines the confidence of the people in the responsibility of law enforcement and violates the basic principles of summary judgment. The attention of this Honorable Court is warranted.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL THAT A DEPUTY SHERIFF WHO STRIKES A PERSON IN CUSTODY DURING THE BOOKING PROCESS IS OUTSIDE HIS SCOPE OF EMPLOYMENT, AS A MATTER OF LAW, EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THE FIRST AND SECOND DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL.

The original panel decision in this case reversed the summary final judgment for Defendants. Judge Cobb, who wrote the dissenting opinion to this panel decision, also authored the majority *en banc* opinion which vacated the panel decision, substituted a new opinion, and affirmed summary judgment for Defendants. In his original dissent, Judge Cobb acknowledged conflict with *Hennagan v. Dept. of Highway Safety and Vehicles*, 467 So. 2d 748 (Fla. 1st DCA 19850 when he stated "[*t*]hat holding is simply wrong and should be rejected by this court." [McGhee v. Volusia County, 19 Fla. Law Weekly D2240 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994) (Cobb, J., dissenting)] Although the majority *en banc* opinion avoids a discussion of Hennagan, it is discussed by Judge Dauksch in the dissenting opinion and conflict noted. [A. 6]

In Hennagan, the plaintiff alleged in her complaint that a uniformed highway patrol officer stopped her as she was walking home from grade school, told her she was under suspicion for theft, it would be necessary to search her person and she must get in his car. The complaint charged that there was no probable cause of any of the trooper's actions. In addition, the plaintiff alleged that the trooper drove her to an obscure location, removed portions of her

clothing and performed an illegal search and touching of her body and did sexually abuse and molest her.

The First District Court of Appeal held that the alleged factual situation could not, as a matter of law, by found to be outside the trooper's scope of employment. [467 So. 2d at p. 750) *Hennagan* and the case at bar are in conflict.

The same is true for the case at bar and Maybin ν. Thompson, 514 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987). Maybin reversed a summary judgment for the governmental defendant finding that the record raised a factual issue regarding the issue of whether Officer Thompson was acting within the scope of his employment as a police officer. Maybin's deposition showed that Maybin and others went to the Fort Myers police station to inquire about the arrest of Maybin's two brothers. The group got into an argument with a police officer inside the station. Officer Thompson overheard the argument and told the group it would be best to leave. The group left and walked to their car. While Maybin was unlocking the car, Officer Thompson and two other officers approached. According to Maybin, Thompson pulled out his nightstick and asked to see Officer Maybin's driver's license. Maybin handed Officer Thompson the license. Thompson told Maybin that he was close to going to jail and ordered him to put his hands on the car. Someone knocked the nightstick out of Thompson's hands, Thompson then grabbed Maybin's arm, twisted it and all three officers jumped on him. Maybin was arrested and charged with disorderly conduct and resisting arrest without force and violence. A jury trial on these charges resulted in a directed verdict of acquittal by the trial judge.

There is no more basis to find Deputy Hernlen's actions to be outside his scope of employment as a matter of law than Officer Thompson's in *Maybin*. The decisions are in conflict. There is a basis to find in *Maybin* that Officer Thompson believed that his authority as a police officer was being challenged when the nightstick was knocked from his hand and that his actions were taken at least in part to serve the interests of his employer, i.e. maintaining his authority as a police officer. Similarly, in the case at bar, there is a basis to find that Deputy Hernlen believed that his authority as a police officer was being challenged in that he perceived Mr. McGhee's comments as a threat and as a challenge to his authority as a police officer and that his actions were taken at least in part to serve the interests of his employer. The decisions are in conflict.

II. THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL THAT THERE IS NO REASONABLE INFERENCE FROM THE FACTS WHICH PREVENTS THE ENTRY OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT.

Every reasonable inference must be drawn from the facts against the summary judgment movant and in favor of the nonmoving party and the case must be resolved by a jury. [Moore v. Morris, 475 So. 2d 666 (Fla. 1985)] The case at bar conflicts with this principle

It is certainly reasonable that Deputy Hernlen may have acted, at least in part, to maintain his authority as a Deputy Sheriff. By affirming summary judgment, the Fifth District Court of Appeal failed to apply appropriate summary judgment principles.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herein, Petitioner, Morris McGhee II, respectfully requests this Honorable to accept jurisdiction and reverse the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal.