FILED
SID J. WHITE
JUN 8 1995

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CLERK SYDEN ME COURT

MORRIS H. MCGHEE, II,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 85,695

vs.

VOLUSIA COUNTY, a Political Subdivision of the State of Florida,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY PROCEEDINGS
TO REVIEW A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT
OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FIFTH DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

TURA SCHNEBLY BROUGHTON
Assistant County Attorney
Florida Bar No. 231290
123 West Indiana Avenue
DeLand, FL 32720-4613
904/736-5950
Attorney for COUNTY OF
VOLUSIA

##

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

All references to the Record on Appeal will be designated by the letter "R" followed by the appropriate page number. All references to the transcript of the hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment will be designated by the letters "TR" followed by the appropriate page number. All references to the Appendix of the Petitioner will be designated by the letter "A" followed by the appropriate page number. All references to the Appendix of the Respondent will be designated by the letter "RA" followed by the appropriate page number. All references to the Petitioner's Brief on Jurisdiction will be designated by the letter "PB" followed by the appropriate page number.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

#### A. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In addition to the Petitioner's Statement of the Case, Respondent would add the following:

The Complaint filed September 13, 1991, accused George Tracy Hernlen, individually, of forcefully and maliciously kicking and beating the Plaintiff while the Plaintiff was handcuffed on the floor of the office of the Sheriff's Department and claimed that Hernlen's conduct was beyond the standard tolerated by a civilized society and was wanton, reckless and malicious. (R. p.3, paragraph 16) Plaintiff filed a three count Amended Complaint and served on the County of Volusia on February 2, 1993.

In Count I of the Amended Complaint, the Plaintiff continued to maintain a federally derived claim against Defendant George Tracy Hernlen, individually, and the allegations in paragraph 17 remained unchanged from paragraph 16 of the original complaint. (R. p.18) In Count II Plaintiff alleged liability of the County of Volusia pursuant to Section 768.28, Florida Statutes (1989), for the post-arrest acts of Deputy Sheriff George Tracy Hernlen claiming he committed a civil assault and battery upon the Plaintiff by beating and kicking Plaintiff while Plaintiff lay on the floor in handcuffs. (R. p.19) Count III asserted that the County of Volusia had deprived Plaintiff of his Constitutional rights adopting the language of Paragraph 17 of the count against

Defendant Hernlen, individually. (R. p.21), but on April 8, 1993, the Plaintiff voluntarily dismissed Count III. (R. p.36)

The County of Volusia filed a Motion for Summary Judgment as to Count II on or about June 28, 1993, (R. pp.57-83) Plaintiff acknowledged at the summary judgment hearing of September 10, 1993, that there was no dispute with the material facts as stated by Defendant's counsel and set forth in the County's Motion for Final Summary Judgment. (TR. p.7, lines 24-25). The Final Summary Judgment in favor of Defendant, County of Volusia, was entered December 20, 1993. (R. pp.111-121) and Plaintiff appealed timely.

#### B. STATEMENT OF FACTS

While the Respondent, Volusia County, cannot disagree with the Petitioner's Statement of Facts as far as it goes, the Respondent does disagree with the inference which might be drawn from omissions of Petitioner as to the flavor of the alleged confrontation. The Respondent would offer the "facts" of Petitioner's testimony as considered by the trial court and incorporated in the Final Summary Judgment (RA 1) which was affirmed by the Fifth District Court of Appeal en banc. (A)

According to Petitioner the following occurred between the two men with no one else present. (RA 1, 3-6) Petitioner was handcuffed and sitting at a table while Deputy Hernlen (hereafter Hernlen) completed the arrest report and prepared to arrange for Petitioner to be transported to jail.

Petitioner complained that Hernlen came to the saw shop off duty and was "buddy buddy" with Petitioner but was not "buddy buddy" when Petitioner breaks the law. Petitioner said, "You don't need to set a foot in my saw shop. You don't need to come in the door you are not welcome."

After Petitioner told Hernlen he was no longer welcome in the McGhee Saw Shop, Hernlen turned away from his paperwork and said, "you are threatening me? Hernlen stood up and he lunged right at Petitioner and grabbed him saying, "you are threatening me?" Then he "just went crazy" and started kicking Petitioner, who started crying, begging Hernlen to quit. Hernlen said, "What are you? A big pussy? That's all you are."

Hernlen "just kept on and kept on" kicking Petitioner. He lunged at Petitioner and grabbed him by his throat. Petitioner hit the floor unable to cover his back because he was handcuffed. Wearing boots, Hernlen kicked Petitioner as hard as he could. Petitioner lay on the floor; he couldn't get back up. Hernlen kicked Petitioner all in his back, up to the back of his head. The Deputy landed blows to the back of Petitioner's head, behind his ears and his lower back and ribs. During this time, Hernlen continued to scream at Petitioner calling him a "pussy." Finally, Hernlen sat Petitioner against the wall, made a telephone call and then helped Petitioner to his feet.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The <u>en banc</u> decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal affirming the Final Summary Judgment in the <u>McGhee</u> case does not create a conflict with this Court's decisions or those of other district courts of appeal. In <u>McGhee</u>, the appellate court analyzed a full record and relied upon undisputed material facts to which Petitioner had stipulated.

On the "facts" of Petitioner the dispute and the beating were purely personal. he Fifth District Court correctly determined that:

The facts relied upon by the appellant -- Hernlen was on duty at the time of the incident and McGhee was in custody -- cannot, standing alone, create a jury issue as to scope of employment under the waiver of sovereign immunity statute, section 768.28, Florida Statutes... To hold that a jury issue is created simply because Hernlen was on duty and McGhee in custody at the time of the incident would constitute a judicial imposition of strict liability upon the state and its subdivisions, contrary to the waiver statute itself. (citation omitted)

The McGhee decision is totally consistent with Florida case and statutory law; therefore, jurisdiction should be denied.

### ARGUMENT I

I. THE EN BANC DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL WAS PROPERLY ENTERED AFFIRMING THE FINAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF VOLUSIA COUNTY AND THAT DECISION DOES NOT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF THE FIRST AND SECOND DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL AS A MATTER OF LAW

Petitioner asserts conflict with the following cases: Hennagan v. Department of Highway Safety, 467 So.2d 748 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985); and Maybin v. Thompson, 514 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1987.

## **Hennagan**

The Petitioner points to Judge Dauksch en banc dissent as supporting Petitioner's claim creating conflict based upon Hennagan and points to the lack of discussion of Hennagan in the majority opinion authored by Judge Cobb. (P.B. 4) Judge Dauksch argues Judge Cobb recognized the conflict in his dissent from the original panel's decision, vacated en banc. (A1) The concurring opinion of Judge Griffin was written solely to address the inapplicability of the Hennagan case to the instant case and the lack of conflict with the same. (A6) Judge Griffin opined that Hennagan was procedurally different and construed an earlier and distinctly different version of Florida Statutes Section 768.28. Id. The Respondent agrees with Judge Griffin.

The <u>Hennagan</u> case arose as a suit against the Department of Highway Safety based upon an alleged sexual molestation of

Ada Elizabeth Hennagan by Florida Highway Patrolman, Willie Thomas Jones. Counts I through IV, (alleging negligence, false imprisonment, unlawful search, and invasion of privacy), and Count VI (alleging a sexual battery) were dismissed with prejudice on the grounds that Jones' actions were, as a matter of law, outside the course and scope of his employment. Final summary judgment was entered in favor of the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles on the counts alleging false arrest and negligent hiring. The Plaintiff appealed the dismissal of Counts I through Count IV and the Final Summary Judgment regarding the Count of false arrest. Hennagan at 749.

The First District Court of Appeal upheld the Summary Judgment and reversed the trial court's granting of the Motion to Dismiss regarding Counts I through IV. Hennagan at 751. The Court did not analyze evidence for those counts dismissed by the trial court and specifically stated it could not determine whether the actions alleged were or were not in the course and scope of employment. Furthermore, the Court did not state that Summary Judgment is an inappropriate procedural tool by which to analyze cases brought pursuant to Florida Statutes Section 768.28 but rather specifically stated that the more stringent test of Summary Judgment might well be resolved adversely to Plaintiff. Hennagan at p.751.

There is no conflict between the decision of the <u>Hennagan</u> or <u>McGhee</u> Courts. As stated succinctly by Judge Griffin, "after development of a full record," the beating of

"Petitioner" was "initiated purely by a personal dispute between two people who knew each other. The <u>en banc</u> majority has no desire and no need to quarrel with <u>Hennagan</u>." (A6)

### Maybin

In the second case offered by Petitioner, <u>Maybin v.</u>
Thompson, the Second District Court of Appeal reversed a
Summary Judgment granted to the City of Ft. Myers. <u>Maybin</u> at
1131. Dale Aubrey Maybin had sued the City and the individual
police officer, Thompson. The count against the City did not
include the exclusionary language which exempts municipal
liability for tortious conduct. The only testimony before the
Court at the time the court granted summary judgment was the
testimony of Maybin which indicated that Thompson was in the
course and scope of his employment with the City when after
pulling out his night stick, Thompson asked to see Maybin's
drivers license. <u>Maybin</u> at 1130.

The Second District opined: "Because the court made no specific finding that would trigger operation of the sovereign immunity statute, we cannot say with certainty that there was no question of material fact and that the Defendant City was entitled to judgment as a matter of law" Maybin at 1131. Without such findings, the Maybin Court was unable to say there was not a jury issue. The opinion did not say or infer that Summary Judgment would not be appropriate procedurally if the Final Summary Judgment was drawn more precisely showing

no dispute of material fact and entitlement as a matter of law. In the instant case there is no dispute of material fact and the Final Summary Judgment is factually and legally specific.

Maybin and McGhee do not conflict factually or legally. In Maybin, Thompson pulled a night stick, asked for a driver's license, had his night stick dislodged from his hand and proceeded with a physical altercation and arrest of Maybin. In McGhee, Petitioner was under arrest, handcuffed, seated and verbally disputing Hernlen's right to return to the McGhee Saw Shop. Hernlen turned from the paperwork that he could and should have finished and the beating ensued.

The precipitating remarks by arrested and handcuffed Petitioner relate specifically to Hernlen coming into the saw shop off duty and being "buddy buddy" with Petitioner and Petitioner's father but not being "buddy buddy" when Petitioner breaks the law. For this reason Petitioner says "You don't need to set a foot in my saw shop. You don't need to come in the door. You are not welcome." (RA-1, 4).

Clearly Hernlen's coming to the saw shop was personal. Clearer still is that the denial of entry to the saw shop in the future was personal and posed no threat to Hernlen currently carrying out his duties as a deputy. There is no conflict and jurisdiction should be denied.

#### ARGUMENT II

II. THE EN BANC DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL WAS PROPERLY ENTERED AFFIRMING THE FINAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF VOLUSIA COUNTY DOES NOT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT.

In Argument II, Petitioner presents an argument not heretofore raised before the trial court or the Fifth District Court of Appeal. Petitioner asserts conflict with this Court's decision in Moore v. Morris, 475 So.2d 666 (Fla. 1985) claiming that the Fifth District Court of Appeal failed to apply appropriate summary judgment principles by ignoring or missing a reasonable inference that Deputy Hernlen may have acted in part to maintain his authority as a Deputy Sheriff. While Petitioner's counsel stipulated there was no dispute of material facts, Petitioner argues this "reasonable inference" creates a jury issue.

Without factual analysis, Respondent assumes that Petitioner adopts Page 6 of Argument I of his Maybin analysis that "...there is a basis to find that Deputy Hernlen believed that his authority as a police officer was being challenged in that he perceived Mr. McGhee's comments as a threat and as a challenge to his authority as a police officer and that his actions were taken at least in part to serve the interests of his employer." The Respondent adopts its argument on Page 7 of Argument I. There is no reasonable inference, no conflict issue and jurisdiction should be denied.

## CONCLUSION

Based on the Citations of Authority and legal argument herein, Respondent, VOLUSIA COUNTY, respectfully requests this Honorable Court to deny jurisdiction and affirm the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal en banc.